1986

Vaughn Rasmussen v. Deseret Federal Savings and Loan Association, the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, Okland-Foulger Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented for review are whether, when the law is properly applied, there are genuine issues of fact regarding:

1. Estoppel of respondents from asserting the statute of frauds because of Vaughn Rasmussen's detrimental reliance on their representations;

2. Whether there are sufficient memoranda of the agreements of the parties;

3. Whether Vaughn Rasmussen's partial performance entitles him to present his claim for equitable relief; and

4. Whether the defense of fraud, as asserted by Vaughn Rasmussen against the counterclaim, was barred by the statute of limitations.

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITIES

There are no authorities directly dispositive of the issues presented. The applicable statutes of fraud are Utah Code Ann. §§ 25-5-1 and 3. The applicable statute of limitations is Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-26(3). Additional authorities which bear on the issues are quoted or appropriately referenced in the argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

Vaughn Rasmussen claims breach of an agreement by respondents Deseret Federal and Crossroads to lease to him space on Level One of the Crossroads Mall. Respondent Crossroads counterclaims for rent claimed to be due and owing on Vaughn Rasmussen's Level Two space in the Mall.

Appeal No. 20512 is an appeal from final orders of the District Court granting summary judgment in favor of both respondents. Appeal No. 20755 is an appeal from a final order of the District Court granting summary judgment in favor of respondent Crossroads on its counterclaim against appellant.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

On December 10, 1984 District Judge Sawaya entered summary judgment in favor of Deseret Federal based on the statute of frauds. Notice of intention to appeal that ruling was filed December 11, 1984.

On January 22, 1985 District Judge Sawaya entered summary judgment in favor of Crossroads based on the statute of frauds. Notice of appeal was filed regarding that judgment on February 20, 1985

On May 20, 1985 the lower court entered summary judgment in favor of Crossroads on its counterclaim after hearing oral argument which focused on whether Vaughn Rasmussen's asserted defense of fraud would lie. Notice of appeal of that judgment was filed June 19, 1985.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Beginning in 1980 Vaughn Rasmussen operated a shoe store on Level Two of the Crossroads Mall. R. 154-55. Deseret Federal operated a bank on Level One of the Mall. R. 155. Both parties were tenants of respondent Crossroads who owned the Mall. Crossroads conducted its leasing operations in the Mall through its leasing agent, Kravco, Inc.

Level Two Lease. In May of 1980 Vaughn Rasmussen entered into a lease agreement with Crossroads for lease of space on

Level Two of the Mall. R. 182-225. That agreement is a 43-page form lease provided by the lessor containing all the terms of leasing in the mall such as use and modification of the space and use of common areas. Id. Prior to the execution of this lease Vaughn Rasmussen was told by agents of Crossroads that the Level Two space was a prime location because Crossroads would be constructing an elevated walkway between Crossroads Mall and the ZCMI Mall which would open up into Crossroads Mall right in front of Vaughn Rasmussen's space. R. 239-40.

This representation was made to induce Vaughn Rasmussen to lease the Level Two space. R. 240. It was a material representation which Vaughn Rasmussen relied on in signing the Level Two lease. R. 240. Vaughn Rasmussen subsequently learned that Crossroads never intended to construct a walkway entering on Level Two and that the planned walkway was to enter on Level Three. R. 240-41. In response to respondent Crossroad's counterclaim for rent on the Level Two space, Vaughn Rasmussen asserted fraud in the inducement as an affirmative defense. R. 239.

Level One Lease. Vaughn Rasmussen nevertheless attempted to make his business successful in the Mall. Still anxious to obtain the traffic flow he thought would be passing the Level Two space, Vaughn Rasmussen approached Deseret Federal and

Crossroads about expanding his store downward into Level One.

R. 175, pp. 20-21. The approval of both respondents was necessary because Deseret Federal was occupying the space wanted by Vaughn Rasmussen. Deseret Federal had to agree to surrender a portion of its leased space to Crossroads so Crossroads could lease the space to Vaughn Rasmussen.

In July of 1982 Vaughn Rasmussen received Deseret Federal's promise to surrender the Level One space on certain terms. R. 155. In August of 1982 Vaughn Rasmussen reached an agreement with Crossroads that Crossroads would lease the Level One space to for \$20 per square foot, for the duration of Vaughn Rasmussen's lease on the Level Two space and on the same terms as were found in the 43-page Level Two lease. R. 155-156. As additional consideration Vaughn Rasmussen also promised to pay previously disputed construction costs relating to the Level Two space. R. 156.

Crossroads also promised in August of 1982 to provide Vaughn Rasmussen with a written lease for the Level One space. R. 157.

Based on the agreements and the representations they include, Vaughn Rasmussen proceeded to perform the deal and make necessary arrangements to occupy the space. Between August of 1982 and January of 1983 he paid Crossroads over \$2,400 in disputed construction costs. R. 157. This was done

in reliance on Crossroads' repeated assurances to Vaughn Rasmussen that a written lease was forthcoming. R. 158.

In January of 1983 Vaughn Rasmussen advised Crossroads' leasing agent, Bruce Barcal, that he needed to take bids on the construction work that was planned and also needed to provide funds for remodeling at Deseret Federal's location on 3900 South. (This remodeling was one of the considerations Deseret Federal received for its promise to surrender the Level One space.) R. 175, pp. 40-42. Mr. Barcal was also advised at that time that Vaughn Rasmussen had applied for a Small Business Administration loan in the amount of \$250,000 which was contingent on Vaughn Rasmussen occupying the Level One space and that he wanted the written lease before committing to the loan. Mr. Barcal assured him it was safe to proceed with the loan and that Vaughn need not worry about the lease because it would arrive shortly. Id. Based on Mr. Barcal's representation that the parties had agreement and that a written lease would be provided shortly, Vaughn Rasmussen obligated himself on this loan in January of 1983. R. 157.

The documents exchanged between the parties provide further evidence that the agreements existed and that the representations were made. As to Deseret Federal the terms of its agreement to relinquish the space are fully delineated in a letter dated January 13, 1983, written to Bruce Barcal by Deseret

Federal's vice president Howard Swapp. R. 175, Exhibit 2. The letter advises Mr. Barcal that Deseret Federal will vacate approximately 950 square feet on Level One only if (1) the space is released to Vaughn Rasmussen, (2) Deseret Federal is released from responsibility for the space and (3) Deseret Federal and Vaughn Rasmussen execute additional agreements. Id. The additional agreement referred to in the letter was drafted by Deseret Federal and delivered to Vaughn Rasmussen on March 9, 1983. R. 175, Exhibit 14. This 5-page agreement provides for Vaughn Rasmussen to arrange and pay for the remodeling and relocation associated with the change. Mr. Swapp's letter also authorizes Mr. Barcal's office to act as Deseret Federal's agent to close the transaction. This authority lasted only until March 15, 1983 according to the letter.

After January 13, 1983, when Bruce Barcal had the authority of Deseret Federal and Crossroads, Vaughn Rasmussen asked him where the written lease was. Barcal told him again and again that it would be produced any day. Specifically, Barcal told Vaughn Rasmussen the leases were coming by way of Federal Express to Vaughn Rasmussen's home on two separate occasions in February of 1983. R. 175, p. 45. On one of those occasions Vaughn Rasmussen stayed home all weekend waiting for these documents to arrive. Id.

More specifically, in a letter dated March 9, 1983, addressed to Deseret Federal and copied to Vaughn Rasmussen, Mr. Barcal represented that "Kravco, Inc. is presently preparing leases and lease surrender forms for the square footage discussed. You should be receiving the lease surrender forms in approximately five (5) business days." R. 161. This letter merely restates what Barcal had orally promised to Vaughn Rasmussen on numerous occasions since August of 1982 period. R. 158.

Crossroads provided a written lease to Vaughn Rasmussen but after Bruce Barcal's authority to act for Deseret Federal had terminated. On April 13, 1983 Crossroads delivered the lease to Vaughn Rasmussen at his home. R. 159. This written lease incorporated all the essential terms of the agreement of the parties as reached in August of 1982. R. 9-45. Crossroads has previously represented in writing that the written lease document would be provided before Barcal's authority from Deseret Federal terminated.

Mr. Barcal failed to provide the documents by March 15 when his authority to act as agent for Deseret Federal expired. After that time Deseret Federal refused to surrender the space despite the undisputed fact that it had appointed Bruce Barcal its agent for this precise purpose.

After March 15, both respondents provided Vaughn Rasmussen with documents which represented their independent attempts to complete the transaction. Crossroads provided Vaughn Rasmussen with the complete written lease document with the same terms the parties had agreed on all along. R. 159. Deseret Federal, on the other hand, attempted to bypass Crossroads by subleasing the space directly to Vaughn Rasmussen. R. 46-50. Crossroads refused to consent to the sublease and Deseret Federal refused to consent to a surrender of the space to Crossroads and, because neither respondent cooperated, Vaughn Rasmussen never obtained possession of the Level One space.

Vaughn Rasmussen spent a great deal of money to close the SBA loan, to prepare construction plans for the store and for the Deseret Federal space and to purchase inventory for the new store. Because of respondents' refusal to honor their agreements with him, combined with Crossroads misrepresentations about the Level Two Space, Vaughn Rasmussen has been unable to earn the money needed to pay the expenses mentioned above and he has been driven to financial ruin.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

None of the lower court's summary judgments in this matter were appropriate. In each instance the law was not properly applied to the facts in the record. The genuine factual issues

were avoided by a misapplication of the statute of frauds defense and by a misunderstanding of how the statute of limitations operates against affirmative defenses.

Respondents should not even have been allowed to assert the statute of frauds. Their leasing agent continuously represented to Vaughn Rasmussen that a written lease would be provided and Vaughn Rasmussen acted to his detriment in reliance on that representation by borrowing money, purchasing inventory and preparing to occupy the Level One space. Utah law clearly allows promissory estoppel to overcome the statute of frauds if the elements of the doctrine are satisfied. Here, sufficient evidence of each element was presented against respondents to raise genuine issues of fact which should be presented to the finder of fact and which make the lower court's summary judgment improper.

Notwithstanding that respondents should have been estopped to assert the statute of frauds, Vaughn Rasmussen submits that the defense should not have been applied as a matter of law in favor of either respondent. A genuine factual issue exists whether there are sufficient memoranda of respondents' agreements which satisfy the requirement of a writing. Further, the oral agreements of the parties should have been considered by a jury for equitable relief based on Vaughn Rasmussen's partial performance.

With respect to Crossroads' counterclaim for rent, summary judgment was also improper. The lower court erred in refusing to allow Vaughn Rasmussen to assert the defense of fraud. The statute of limitations does not operate to bar assertion of fraud as a defense even though it might be time barred as an affirmative claim. The uncontradicted facts of Vaughn Rasmussen's affidavit clearly raise a factual question of whether Crossroads committed fraud in obtaining its original lease with Vaughn Rasmussen and Vaughn Rasmussen should be allowed to assert and prove that defense to a jury.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS IMPROPER BECAUSE THERE IS A QUESTION OF FACT WHETHER RESPONDENTS ARE ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

Vaughn Rasmussen had an agreement with Crossroads and Deseret Federal. They agreed to lease him space on the Level One of the Mall, and the terms of that lease were fully negotiated, specified and agreed. Through their joint agent, Bruce Barcal, Crossroads and Deseret Federal also repeatedly promised Vaughn Rasmussen something else - a written lease. Respondents never took the simple actions necessary to provide that lease until after one or the other of respondents decided not to honor their contract. Then, when Vaughn Rasmussen took this

action to enforce the lease agreement, respondents raised the statute of frauds as a defense. They convinced the lower court to dismiss Vaughn Rasmussen's claim because the lease agreement was not in writing. It was error to allow Crossroads and Deseret Federal to assert that defense as a matter of law after Barcal had repeatedly promised to provide a written lease and lease surrender form and had induced Vaughn Rasmussen to act in reliance on those promises to his substantial detriment.

In Easton v. Wycoff, 4 Utah 2d 386, 295 P.2d 332 (1956), this Court established that the doctrine of promissory estoppel is available to overcome the statute of frauds and enforce a contract. There, the plaintiff sought breach of contract damages when his lessor refused to honor their oral lease agreement. The parties had orally agreed to the terms of the lease, and the lessor promised to have the agreement drawn up by his attorney. The lessor gained summary judgment in his favor by asserting the statute of frauds as a defense.

On appeal, this Court acknowledged the rule which governs the present case. It ruled that the doctrine of promissory estoppel applies to avoid the statute of frauds if there has been a promise to provide a written lease and if there has been detrimental reliance on that promise. Id. at 295 P.2d 333. In Easton the summary dismissal was affirmed only because no showing had been made of detrimental reliance by the lessor.

Here, such detrimental reliance by Vaughn Rasmussen is proved by the record and respondents should have been barred from even asserting the statute of frauds as a defense.

The facts in the record now before the Court also satisfy the requirements of Ravarino v. Price, 123 Utah 559, 260 P.2d 570 (1953). There a purchaser sought to enforce an oral promise to sell real property. The seller raised the statute of frauds as a defense, and the purchaser responded by claiming that the seller was estopped from doing so. This Court again upheld the applicability of promissory estoppel to a promise to provide a written contract:

The binding thread which runs through these cases, distinguishing them from the general rule that a mere promise as to future conduct will not work an estoppel, is the promise is designedly made to influence the conduct of the promisee, tacitly encouraging the conduct, and although the conduct of the promisee constitutes no performance of the oral contract itself, it is something that must be done by plaintiff before he could begin to perform, as was known to the defendants.

Id. at 260 P.2d 576.

Here Bruce Barcal did much more than tacitly encourage Vaughn Rasmussen. Over the course of six months he affirmatively and repeatedly assured Vaughn Rasmussen that it was all right to proceed with the financing, remodeling plans and purchase of inventory because written documents were being

prepared. Barcal also obtained payment of \$2,400 in disputed construction charges from Vaughn Rasmussen in this manner. During the time when Barcal was the agent of both respondents he went so far as to specify a weekend when Federal Express would deliver the promised documents to Vaughn Rasmussen. When these facts are viewed in a light most favorable to Vaughn Rasmussen, reasonable minds could clearly find that respondents promised to provide a written contract and that Vaughn Rasmussen relied upon that promise to his substantial detriment.

This was the conclusion reached in Maula v. Milford Management Corp., 559 F. Supp. 1000 (S.D.N.Y. 1983), under a similar fact situation. There, the parties had an oral agreement for the lease of an apartment at the Biltmore Plaza. The lessees viewed the apartment, delivered three checks each representing one month rent, and also paid a security deposit and brokerage fee. Just as in the present case, a written lease was drafted but never signed by the lessor. The lessees were given occupancy of the apartment for a short period, were permitted to store their belongings in the apartment, and were given keys to it. They ordered custom made rugs and furniture and arranged for electricity to be transferred into their name. The court ruled that these facts created genuine questions as to whether the lessors had misrepresented that they would deliver a lease for the apartment and whether the lessees

had suffered substantial injuries in reliance on this representation. The same factual questions are presented here and they require that the summary judgment be reversed.

In Lacy v. Wozencraft, 188 Okla. 19, 105 P.2d 781 (1940) the lessee's showing of reliance on the promise of a written lease was much less than that of Vaughn Rasmussen. Nevertheless, the Oklahoma Supreme Court reversed the ruling of the lower court in favor of the lessor. There, the lessee had occupied the premises under a written lease contract for a term of three years. She continued to occupy the premises after expiration of the lease and during that time the lessor orally agreed to lease the premises to her for another three year term and to reduce that agreement to a writing. The lessee's only evidence of reliance was that she expended the sum of \$1,000 in remodeling to suit her stock of merchandise and invested approximately \$5,000 in additional merchandise.

At trial, the jury was instructed that some benefit to the lessor had to be shown before the defense of estoppel was available. This was found to be error on appeal. It was sufficient to remove the oral lease agreement from the statute of frauds that the lessee had suffered the material detriment mentioned above in expectation of the promised written lease. On remand, the question for the jury was whether the lessee, with the knowledge of the lessor, had so altered her position in

reliance on the oral agreement that to invoke the statute of frauds would permit a fraud or other injustice to be perpetrated.

In the present case, Vaughn Rasmussen has shown significantly more detriment, has shown that respondents promised to provide the Level One space and to put their promises in writing, and has shown that he acted in reliance on those promises. He obtained an SBA loan, purchased inventory for the new store, prepared construction and remodeling plans and paid disputed construction costs. His affidavit is uncontradicted on these facts. R. 156-58. The affidavit also establishes that respondents' leasing agent, Bruce Barcal, represented numerous times to Mr. Rasmussen that a written lease would be delivered to him. Barcal's representations are further proven by his letter to Deseret Federal in March of 1983, stating that the lease and surrender were presently being prepared and would arrive before March 15, 1983. Mr. Rasmussen incurred very significant detriment in reliance upon Barcal's representations and did so at a time when Barcal was the agent of both respondents. Also, some of that detriment directly benefited Crossroads when Vaughn Rasmussen paid directly to Crossroads over \$2,400 in disputed costs pertaining to his Level Two lease with Crossroads.

The record does not contradict any of these facts, much less overwhelm them with the weight of contrary evidence. As to each element of the doctrine of promissory estoppel there is, at the very least, a factual question whether the doctrine should apply to estop respondents from asserting the statute of frauds. A jury could easily find that allowing respondents to use the defense would result in perpetration of a fraud on Vaughn Rasmussen and for that reason, the summary judgment in respondents' favor should be reversed so that the evidence can be considered by a jury.

POINT II

EVEN IF RESPONDENTS ARE NOT ESTOPPED TO
ASSERT THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS, FACTUAL ISSUES
REMAIN REGARDING THE OPERATION OF THAT
DEFENSE.

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