1986

Vaughn Rasmussen v. Deseret Federal Savings and Loan Association, the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, Okland-Foulger Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The district court properly concluded that, as a matter of law, any alleged oral agreement between Rasmussen and Deseret Federal is void under the statute of frauds. Rasmussen argues that there are factual issues concerning the operation of the statute of frauds. Specifically, Rasmussen contends that factual issues exist with respect to (1) whether the statute of frauds should not be applied under the doctrine of promissory estoppel, (2) whether there are sufficient memoranda of the alleged oral agreement, or (3) whether Rasmussen's conduct constitutes part performance. Each of those arguments must be rejected.

Promissory estoppel was not raised in the district court and may not be raised for the first time in this appeal. Moreover, under Utah law the acts and conduct of the promisor must clearly manifest an intention not to assert the statute of frauds that to permit him to do so would work a fraud on the other party. The undisputed facts do not even hint at such an intention. Further, this Court has recognized that written

memoranda must expressly or impliedly acknowledge or recognize that a contract has been entered into to satisfy the statute of frauds. To the contrary, the writings relied upon by Rasmussen refer to the alleged agreement as a "proposal" in the process of negotiation.

Finally, the acts of past performance relied upon by Rasmussen are simply insufficient to establish the alleged agreement. Rasmussen did not take possession of the subject space, make any valuable improvements, or pay any consideration to Deseret Federal. The district court properly entered summary judgment in favor of Deseret Federal and that ruling should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

Appellant Rasmussen seeks to enforce an alleged oral agreement between Rasmussen and Deseret Federal that Deseret Federal would surrender its leasehold interest in a portion of its space and would consent to a lease of that space by Crossroads to Rasmussen. This alleged oral contract is squarely within the first section of the Utah Statute of Frauds which provides:

No estate or interest in real property, other than leases for a term not exceeding one year, nor any trust or power over or concerning real property or in any manner relating thereto, shall be created, granted, assigned, surrendered, or declared otherwise than by act or operation of law, or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized by writing.

Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-1 (1984) (emphasis added). The alleged agreement also comes within the language of Section 3 of the Utah Statute of Frauds. See Id. § 25-5-3.

Rasmussen concedes that the alleged oral agreement comes within the statute of frauds but asserts that the statute should not be enforced in this case. As the district court properly concluded, however, the exceptions to the statute urged by Rasmussen are unavailable as a matter of law.

I. THE DOCTRINE OF PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL IS INAPPLICABLE UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

Rasmussen first contends that there are factual issues concerning the doctrine of promissory estoppel. A review of the record in this matter does not reveal that this theory was before the trial court at any time prior to entry of summary judgment in favor of Deseret Federal. This Court should therefore refuse to consider this issue. See, e.g., Berrett v. Stevens, 690 P.2d 553, 557 (Utah 1984) ("Where an issue is not raised in the trial court, this court will not consider it on appeal."); Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Co., 659 P.2d 1040, 1044 (Utah 1983).

In any event, the doctrine of promissory estoppel is unavailable under the facts in this case. Promissory estoppel historically has been used as a substitute for consideration but has been extended by most courts, including this Court, to act as a bar to a statute of frauds defense. See Ravarino v. Price, 123

Utah 559, 260 P.2d 570 (1953). This Court, however, has recognized a very limited application of the doctrine.

In McKinnon v. Corporation of the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, 529 P.2d 434 (Utah 1974), this Court reaffirmed a limited application of the promissory estoppel doctrine recognized in an earlier case:

[T]he doctrine of promissory estoppel [was] extended, in a limited form, to those cases concerned with . . . the Statute of Frauds where the promise as to future conduct constituted the intended abandonment of an existing right of the promissor. However, a mere promise to execute a written contract and a subsequent refusal to do so is insufficient to create an estoppel, although reliance is placed on such a promise and damage is sustained as a consequence of the refusal. The acts and conduct of the promissor must so clearly manifest an intention that he will not assert the statute that to permit him to do so would be to work a fraud on the other party.

Id. at 436-37 (emphasis added). The limitations recognized in McKinnon are essential to prevent the statute of frauds from becoming meaningless. See Easton v. Wycoff, 4 Utah 2d 386, 295 P.2d 332 (1956). Consequently, under Utah law the party attempting to assert promissory estoppel to enforce an oral promise must prove: (1) a promise, (2) which the promissor should reasonably expect to induce action or forbearance on the part of the promisee, (3) which does induce the action or forbearance, (4) injustice can be avoided only by enforcement of the promise, (5) the promise as to future conduct constituted the intended abandonment of an existing right of the promissor, and

(6) the acts and conduct of the promisor must so clearly manifest an intention that he will not assert the statute that to permit him to do so would be to work a fraud on the other party. Id.; Ravarino, 260 P.2d at 575; see also Restatement (Second) Of Contracts § 139 (1981); 3 S. Williston & W. Jaeger, The Law of Contracts § 533A (1960). In this case, the undisputed facts demonstrate that these requirements have not been satisfied.

A. The Undisputed Facts Demonstrate that Deseret Federal Made No Unconditional Promise.

There is no evidence that Deseret Federal unconditionally promised to surrender its leasehold interest in the subject space to Rasmussen. Indeed, the undisputed evidence in the record indicates that several conditions existed to any promise by Deseret Federal to Rasmussen, that Rasmussen fully understood such conditions, and that the conditions were not satisfied.

In the letter of January 13, 1983, relied upon by Rasmussen, Deseret Federal refers to the alleged oral agreement as a "proposal" that the parties had been "negotiating." The letter then sets forth the specific conditions required by Deseret Federal to be met prior to releasing its leasehold interest in the subject space. Those conditions were: (1) that Deseret Federal be unconditionally released from any responsibility for the subject space by Crossroads, (2) that Deseret Federal not be required to pay any fees, charges, or commissions in connection with the transaction, and (3) that

Deseret Federal and Rasmussen fully execute the relevant agreements. Rasmussen testified that he understood that a written lease between Crossroads and Rasmussen was a condition to any agreement between Deseret Federal and Rasmussen for release of the subject space. R. 175 (Rasmussen Depo. 25-26, 74-75). Similarly, Rasmussen understood that no sublease arrangement was possible between himself and Deseret Federal unless he obtained Crossroads' consent to the sublease. R. 175 (Rasmussen Depo. 68-69).

A binding contract cannot exist when the agreement depends on the satisfaction of conditions precedent which admittedly have not been satisfied. See, e.g., Clayton v. Crossroads Equipment Co., 655 P.2d 1125 (Utah 1982). For example, in Welch Transfer and Storage, Inc. v. Oldham, 663 P.2d 73 (Utah 1983), the parties agreed to exchange certain real property conditioned upon obtaining a release from third parties with interests in the land. A release was not obtained and the Court held the contract invalid. In so holding, the Court stated: "Where fulfillment of a contract is made to depend upon the act or consent of a third person over whom neither party has any control, the contract cannot be enforced unless the act is performed or the consent given." Id. at 76.

The facts here are indistinguishable from those in Welch Transfer. Rasmussen has admitted that any agreement with Deseret Federal was conditioned upon an unconditional and complete release of Deseret Federal by Crossroads, a written

lease between Crossroads and Rasmussen, and the execution of final agreements. Because these conditions have not been satisfied, there simply is no enforceable promise, which is an essential requirement of the doctrine of promissory estoppel.

B. Deseret Federal Always Maintained its Right to Rely Upon the Protection of the Statute of Frauds.

No promise of Deseret Federal as to future conduct constituted the intended abandonment of an existing right. Deseret Federal had the right to require a final written agreement between itself and Rasmussen and to require a written release from Crossroads prior to consummation of the transaction. There is no evidence in the record that Deseret Federal ever abandoned its right to assert the statute of frauds or held such an intention. Indeed, Deseret Federal retained and exercised its full and complete right to assert the statute of frauds. The conditions stated in the January 13 letter plainly indicate that Deseret Federal required a written release from Crossroads and that Deseret Federal and Rasmussen fully execute final agreements before consummation of the transaction.

The acts and conduct of Deseret Federal do not manifest an intention that it would not assert the statute. Rasmussen contends that Bruce Barcal (presumably acting as agent for Crossroads and Deseret Federal) encouraged Rasmussen to take action in reliance on the existence of a lease. Rasmussen claims that Barcal assured Rasmussen that it was alright to proceed with financing, remodeling plans, and purchase of inventory because

documents were being prepared. Further, Rasmussen contends that Barcal specified a weekend when final lease documents were to have been delivered. Such conduct, however, is insufficient as a matter of law under the standard set forth by this Court to justify avoidance of the statute of frauds.

As set forth in Easton v. Wycoff, 4 Utah 2d 386, 295 P.2d 332, 334 (1956):

In most instances of negotiations for transactions included within the statute a reduction of the contract to writing is contemplated, and, in all probability, the parties will discuss who will draw the instrument and when and where it will be signed. The mere refusal to execute a written contract as agreed does not constitute "Fraud" within the rule that the Statute of Frauds will not be enforced where the effect would be to perpetrate a fraud, . . . and to hold otherwise would, in effect, completely nullify the Statute of Frauds.

This case comes within the analysis of this Court in Easton. The parties contemplated a reduction of their proposed agreement to writing and discussed who would draft the agreement. As was its right, however, Deseret Federal refused to proceed with the transaction when the documents did not arrive within the period set forth in the January 13, 1983 letter to Bruce Barcal. Such a refusal cannot be construed to constitute the perpetration of a fraud. To the contrary, the acts and conduct of Deseret Federal in setting a condition that final written documents be required before finalization of the proposed agreement and in ultimately requiring Crossroads to prepare final agreements for the signature of all parties suggests an intent to assert the

full protection of the statute of frauds. The testimony of Rasmussen indicates a complete awareness that none of the parties would be bound to the proposed agreement in the absence of final written documents.

The cases cited by Rasmussen in support of his argument that promissory estoppel should be applied in this case do not apply the standard required by Utah law and in fact support the position of Deseret Federal. Indeed, Rasmussen's brief conspicuously lacks any Utah cases that are supportive of his argument.

Rasmussen first relies upon Maula v. Millford Management Corp., 559 F. Supp. 1000 (S.D.N.Y. 1983). The standard applied in that case is similar to the Utah standard in that the court required a "fraudulent oral promise." However, the Maula court found that sufficient evidence of fraud existed in that case for the matter to go to a jury. In Maula, the parties had an oral agreement for the lease of an apartment and in fact a written agreement was signed by the plaintiff and sent to the defendant but never returned. The plaintiff entered into possession, painted the apartment in accordance with the color specifications set by the defendant, and was merely waiting to move into the apartment. In fact, the defendant had received a substantial benefit and gave no indication that it intended to rely upon the statute of frauds. By contrast, there is no evidence of fraud in the instant case. Deseret Federal has always taken the position that there would be no agreement until

the final written documents were signed. Rasmussen was fully aware of that condition. Moreover, there is no evidence here that Deseret Federal received any benefit from Rasmussen's alleged actions taken in reliance on the oral agreement which would support an inference of fraud as in Mauala.

The second case relied upon by Rasmussen, Lacy v. Wozencraft, 188 Okla. 19, 105 P.2d 781 (1940), is also inapplicable. The Lacy court applied a standard much different from the standard established by the Utah cases. In addition, the only issue before the court was whether the party against whom the promise is sought to be enforced must receive some benefit or consideration.

The facts in this case indicate that Deseret Federal never made an unconditional promise to release the subject space to Rasmussen. Any agreement was conditioned upon Crossroads' approval and the execution of final lease documents. Deseret Federal never manifested any intention that it would not assert the statute of frauds and to permit it to do so does not work a fraud upon Rasmussen. Promissory estoppel is therefore unavailable as a matter of law.

II. THERE ARE NO MEMORANDA OF ANY AGREEMENT BETWEEN RASMUSSEN AND DESERET FEDERAL WHICH PRECLUDE APPLICATION OF THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

Rasmussen next attempts to avoid application of the statute of frauds by arguing that there are sufficient memoranda

of Deseret Federal's promise to surrender its space and Crossroads' promise to lease the space to take the alleged oral agreement out of the statute of frauds. The trial court properly rejected this argument, concluding as a matter of law that the documents relied upon by Rasmussen do not constitute a sufficient memorandum of any agreement between the parties.

Under Utah law, written memoranda of an oral agreement, which are subscribed by the party to be charged, are sufficient to remove such an agreement from the application of the statute of frauds if: (1) the memorandum acknowledges or recognizes that a contract has been entered into by the parties, and (2) the memorandum contains all the essential terms and provisions of the contract. The documents relied upon by Rasmussen fail to satisfy these requirements.

A. The Documents Fail to Acknowledge or Recognize that a Contract Had Been Entered Into by the Parties.

This Court has long recognized the general rule that to constitute a sufficient memorandum, a writing or a group of writings taken together must contain "an acknowledgement or recognition that a contract has been entered into by the parties." Birdzell v. Utah Oil Refining Co., 121 Utah 412, 242 P.2d 578, 580 (1952). The Restatement (Second) of Contracts adopts the same standard. See Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 131(b) & comment f (1979). In the Birdzell case, the plaintiff attempted to enforce an oral contract for a lease based on a letter written by the defendant. The letter, however, indicated

that the parties were "negotiating" for a lease and stated the terms upon which a lease would be available. The Court concluded that the letter did not suffice as an adequate memorandum because it lacked an acknowledgement or recognition that the parties had reached an agreement.

The facts in this case are strikingly similar to those in Birdzell. None of the writings relied upon by Rasmussen contain an acknowledgement or recognition of any oral agreement. Instead, the writings state that the parties had been negotiating a proposal and that any agreement was subject to certain specified conditions, including the receipt and execution of final documentation.

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